
 

COMMISSIONERS' 
DECISION MAKING 

MEETING
________________________________________________

Wednesday, 29 July 2015 at 6.30 p.m.
Council Chamber, 1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove 

Crescent, London, E14 2BG

The meeting is open to the public to attend. 

Members:

Sir Ken Knight (Chair) (Commissioner)
Chris Allison (Member) (Commissioner)
Max Caller (Member) (Commissioner)
Alan Wood (Member) (Commissioner)

Public Information:

The public are welcome to attend these meetings. 

Contact for further enquiries: 
Antonella Burgio, Democratic Services, 
1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG
Tel: 020 7364 4881
E-mail: antonella.burgio@towerhamlets.gov.uk
Web:http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee

Scan this code 
for an 
electronic 
agenda: 



Public Information
Attendance at meetings.
The public are welcome to attend the Commissioners decision making meetings. However 
seating is limited and offered on a first come first served basis. 

Audio/Visual recording of meetings. 
Should you wish to film the meeting, please contact the Committee Officer shown on the 
agenda front page. 

Mobile telephones
Please switch your mobile telephone on to silent mode whilst in the meeting. 

Access information for the Town Hall, Mulberry Place.     
Bus: Routes: 15, 277, 108, D6, D7, D8 all stop 
near the Town Hall. 
Docklands Light Railway: Nearest stations are 
East India: Head across the bridge and then 
through the complex to the Town Hall, Mulberry 
Place Blackwall station: Across the bus station 
then turn right to the back of the Town Hall 
complex, through the gates and archway to the 
Town Hall. 
Tube: The closest tube stations are Canning 
Town and Canary Wharf.
Car Parking: There is limited visitor pay and 
display parking at the Town Hall (free from 6pm)

If you are viewing this on line:(http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/content_pages/contact_us.aspx) 

Meeting access/special requirements. 
The Town Hall is accessible to people with special needs. There are accessible toilets, lifts 
to venues. Disabled parking bays and an induction loop system for people with hearing 
difficulties are available.  Documents can be made available in large print, Braille or audio 
version. For further information, contact the Officers shown on the front of the agenda. 

Fire alarm
If the fire alarm sounds please leave the building immediately by the nearest available fire 
exit without deviating to collect belongings. Fire wardens will direct you to the exits and fire 
assembly point. If you are unable to use the stairs, a member of staff will direct you to a 
safe area. The meeting will reconvene if it is safe to do so, or else it will stand adjourned.

Electronic agendas reports, minutes and film recordings.
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings and links to 
filmed webcasts can also be found on our website from day of publication.  

To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for 
the relevant committee and meeting date. 

Agendas are available at the Town Hall, Libraries, Idea Centres and One 
Stop Shops and on the Mod.Gov, iPad and Android apps.  

QR code for 
smart phone 
users

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


A Guide to Commissioner Decision Making

Commissioner Decision Making at Tower Hamlets
As directed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, the above 
Commissioners have been directed to take decision making responsibility for specific 
areas of work. These include examples such as the disposal of properties, awarding of 
grants and certain officer employment functions. This decision making body has been set 
up to enable the Commissioners to take their decisions in public in a similar manner to 
existing processes. 

Key Decisions
Executive decisions are all decisions that are not specifically reserved for other bodies 
(such as Development or Licensing Committees). Most, but not all, of the decisions to be 
taken by the Commissioners are Executive decisions. Certain important Executive 
decisions are classified as Key Decisions. 

The constitution describes Key Decisions as an executive decision which is likely 

a) to result in the local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, 
significant having regard to the local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the 
decision relates; or 

b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two 
or more wards in the borough. 

Upcoming Key Decisions are published on the website on the ‘Forthcoming Decisions’ 
page through www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee. The Commissioners have chosen to 
broadly follow the Council’s definition in classifying their determinations.

Published Decisions
After the meeting, any decisions taken will be published on the Council’s website. 

 The decisions for this meeting will be published on: Monday, 3 August 2015

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS

COMMISSIONERS' DECISION MAKING MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, 29 JULY 2015

6.30 p.m.

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  (Pages 1 - 4)

3. DECISIONS OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 5 - 6)

To note the decisions of the meeting held on 24th June 2015.

4. CONSIDERATION OF PUBLIC SUBMISSIONS  

Consideration of any written comments received from members of the public in relation to 
any of the reports on the agenda.

[Any submissions should be sent to the clerk listed on the agenda front page by 5pm the 
day before the meeting]

5. REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION  

5 .1 Approvals process for Early Years Service Grant 
Funding  

7 - 28

To determine the following Grants under the above 
category

 EYS Development Grant
 Inclusion Funding
 Childminder Grants 
 Training Grants
 Special Project Funding 

5 .2 St. Paul's Church Pocket Park, Shadwell  29 - 36

5 .3 Children's and Adult Services - General Grants  

Report to follow.

5 .4 Main Stream Grants 2015/18 Programme  

Report to follow.





This page is intentionally left blank



DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS - NOTE FROM THE MONITORING OFFICER

This note is for guidance only.  For further details please consult the Members’ Code of Conduct 
at Part 5.1 of the Council’s Constitution.   

Please note that the question of whether a Member has an interest in any matter, and whether or 
not that interest is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, is for that Member to decide.  Advice is 
available from officers as listed below but they cannot make the decision for the Member.  If in 
doubt as to the nature of an interest it is advisable to seek advice prior to attending a meeting.  

Interests and Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs)

You have an interest in any business of the authority where that business relates to or is likely to 
affect any of the persons, bodies or matters listed in section 4.1 (a) of the Code of Conduct; and 
might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-being or financial position of yourself, a 
member of your family or a person with whom you have a close association, to a greater extent 
than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward affected.

You must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of any such interest, for inclusion in the Register 
of Members’ Interests which is available for public inspection and on the Council’s Website.

Once you have recorded an interest in the Register, you are not then required to declare that 
interest at each meeting where the business is discussed, unless the interest is a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest (DPI).

A DPI is defined in Regulations as a pecuniary interest of any of the descriptions listed at 
Appendix A overleaf.  Please note that a Member’s DPIs include his/her own relevant interests 
and also those of his/her spouse or civil partner; or a person with whom the Member is living as 
husband and wife; or a person with whom the Member is living as if they were civil partners; if the 
Member is aware that that other person has the interest.   

Effect of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest on participation at meetings

Where you have a DPI in any business of the Council you must, unless you have obtained a 
dispensation from the authority's Monitoring Officer following consideration by the Dispensations 
Sub-Committee of the Standards Advisory Committee:-

- not seek to improperly influence a decision about that business; and
- not exercise executive functions in relation to that business.

If you are present at a meeting where that business is discussed, you must:-
- Disclose to the meeting  the existence and nature of the interest at the start of the meeting 

or when the interest becomes apparent, if later; and 
- Leave the room (including any public viewing area) for the duration of consideration and 

decision on the item and not seek to influence the debate or decision 

When declaring a DPI, Members should specify the nature of the interest and the agenda item to 
which the interest relates.  This procedure is designed to assist the public’s understanding of the 
meeting and to enable a full record to be made in the minutes of the meeting.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Where you have a DPI in any business of the authority which is not included in the Member’s 
register of interests and you attend a meeting of the authority at which the business is 
considered, in addition to disclosing the interest to that meeting, you must also within 28 days 
notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest for inclusion in the Register. 

Further advice

For further advice please contact:-
 Meic Sullivan-Gould, Interim Monitoring Officer, 020 7364 4800
 John Williams, Service Head, Democratic Services, 020 7364 4204

Page 2



APPENDIX A:  Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest

(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule)

Subject Prescribed description
Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 
for profit or gain.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the 
relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by the 
Member in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the 
election expenses of the Member.
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 
body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority—
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works 
are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where—
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and
(b) either—

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the 
total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth 
of the total issued share capital of that class.

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMITTEENAME, MeetingDate SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

1

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS

MINUTES OF THE COMMITTEENAME

HELD AT MEETINGACTUALSTARTTIME ON MEETINGDATE

MEETINGLOCATION

Members Present:

ChairPresentRoleTitlesCells
MembersPresentRolesSubsTitlesCells
DeputyPresentSubsTitlesCells
Other Councillors Present:

MemberInAttendanceRows

Officers Present:

OfficerInAttendanceTitlesCell
s

–

SecretaryInAttendanceTitlesC
ells

–

The meeting ended at MeetingActualFinishTime 

Chair, ChairName
CommitteeName

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Commissioner Decision Report
22nd  May 2015

Report of: Robert McCulloch-Graham, Corporate Director 
ESCW

Classification:
Unrestricted

Approvals process for Early Years Service Grant Funding, including: 

 EYS Development Grant
 Inclusion Funding
 Childminder Grants 
 Training Grants
 Special Project Funding 
  

Originating Officer(s) Jo Green
Wards affected All wards
Key Decision? Yes
Community Plan Theme A Prosperous Community

Executive Summary
The Early Years Service operates a number of grant funding programmes to support 
childcare provision within Tower Hamlets. These awards are non-statutory, but do 
work towards supporting national targets or statutory obligations.

a) EYS Development Grant
Provides the financial resource to allow childcare providers both existing and new to 
maximise the quality of their childcare provision. 

b) Inclusion Funding 
Supports access and inclusion of children with significant additional needs (Special 
Educational Needs) by supporting childcare providers in funding: additional focused 
support; specific equipment and/ or adaptations to the environment within the 
setting. 

c) Childminder Grants 
Start-up grant to new childminders offers support to local residents in starting up a 
childminding business by providing the initial paper work, public liability insurance.

d) Training Grants 
Supports those employed in the Private Voluntary and Independent (PVI) Early 
Years workforce to achieve a higher level childcare related qualification to improve 
the quality of childcare and early education provision in the borough.

Page 7

Agenda Item 5.1



e) Special Project Funding
The Early Years Service undertakes several special projects a year to concentrate 
on areas of work to support development in childcare provision and which relate to 
key objectives in the team plan. Grants may be awarded to childcare providers to 
enable them to participate in the projects. 

f) Early Years Sector Support (ex-MSG)
This refers to a block of funding agreed by Schools Forum and which was previously 
part of the Mainstream Grants programme; in the future services will be 
commissioned for infrastructure support for childcare provision and essential early 
years sector activities that cannot be provided from elsewhere. Approval is being 
sought for the extension of current funding while the commissioning process is being 
developed. The requested extension is up to the end of December 2015    

Recommendations:

The Commissioners are recommended to: 

1. Agree the operation of the five grant schemes outlined in the report, namely: 
EYS Development Grant; Inclusion Funding; Childminder Grants; Training 
Grants; Special Project Funding; and Early Years Sector Support.

2. Authorise the Service Head Learning and Achievement to award grants under 
the schemes in accordance with the processes set out in this report.

3. Agree that the authority may enter into agreements to give effect to that the 
scheme and any grants awarded.

4. Agree that a report should be provided to the Commissioners on a quarterly 
basis with details of the awards made. 

1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS

The Local Authority is allocated funding from central government to support 
childcare providers in maximising the quality of their provision; in supporting 
the access and inclusion of children with significant additional needs.

2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

2.1 An alternative option is to do nothing. However, it is very possible in that case 
that the Local authority will not meet certain statutory duties.

Duties set out in the Early Education and Childcare – Statutory Guidance for 
Local Authorities, Department for Education September 2014, include:  

 Ensuring all children are able to take up their entitlement to funded early 

Page 8



education in a high quality childcare setting
 Securing sufficient childcare to ensure that parents are able to work 

because childcare places are available, accessible and affordable and are 
delivered flexibly in a range of high quality providers

 Providing information, advice, guidance and training for childcare providers 
to improve the quality of their provision and to promote high quality early 
education.

The Special educational needs and disability code of practice:0-25 July 2014, 
and Equality Act 2010 include duties to:

 Support access and inclusion of children with significant additional 
needs (Special Educational Needs) 

3. DETAILS OF REPORT

3.1     Purpose of Proposed Funding

3.1.1 EYS Development Grants 
Provides the financial resource to allow childcare providers to maximise the 
quality of their childcare provision; specifically, the programme focuses on: 

 Supporting existing childcare providers in making significant improvements 
to the quality of their provision in line with action points from Ofsted 
Inspection Reports and recommendations of the Early Years Service. 

 Supporting new childcare providers in maximising the quality of their 
childcare provision from their launch. 

3.1.2 Inclusion Funding
Supports the access and inclusion of children with significant additional needs 
(Special Educational Needs) by supporting childcare providers in funding: 

 Additional focused support: funded support to enhance the capacity of 
the Key person and wider permanent staff group to meet the child’s needs 
through the provision of an additional suitably qualified (NVQ Level 3) 
early years practitioner. 

 Specific equipment:  to enable the setting to purchase specific equipment 
to support the child’s access to play and learning opportunities. For 
example wedges for children with physical needs.

 Adaptations to the environment: to enable the setting to fund small 
adaptations to the physical environment to enable access for the child, for 
example grab rails, ramps.

Page 9



3.1.3 Childminder Grants 
This funding is to support people living in Tower Hamlets in setting up as a 
registered Childminder. This encourages formal, high quality childcare that is 
registered with Ofsted and is supported by the LA. All grant recipients are 
supported to:

 raise standards above the basic registration requirements
 offer high quality childcare and education to early years and older years 

children
 to self-evaluate their practices
 help give parents confidence in using childminders as a childcare option.

The funding covers the necessary business pack to get started and meet the 
legal requirements of the Early Years Foundation Stage Framework and 
business practices. The start-up pack purchased through a recognised 
organisation supporting childminders includes the necessary paperwork 
(contracts, children’s records, safeguarding records, registers, accidents 
book, and financial records). In addition, it covers one year’s personal liability 
insurance and a fire blanket.

3.1.4 Training Grants 
Supports those employed in the PVI Early Years workforce in Tower Hamlets 
to achieve a higher-level childcare related qualification.

 GCSE Maths and English
Level 2 practitioners who do not hold GCSEs in English and maths at 
grade C or above cannot progress to achieve a childcare Level 3 
qualification. This funding is to support their professional development as 
a pathway to a higher qualification level,

 Level 3
Progression funding for level 2 practitioners to undertake and achieve the 
Level 3 Early Years Educator (EYE) qualification.  Research shows 
childcare settings (group based provision) which have staff with higher 
qualifications, show higher quality and their children make more progress.

The Nutbrown Review (Foundations for Quality - The independent review 
of early education and childcare qualifications, June 2012) notes that we 
need a rigorous set of qualifications in place to ensure a competent and 
confident workforce.  The Level 3 qualifications should become the 
minimum standard for the workforce, and therefore Early Years 
Foundation Stage (EYFS) requirements should be changed so that all 
staff, including those childminders who work with the EYFS framework, 
should be qualified at a minimum ‘full and relevant’ Level 3 by September 
2022.

The review also stated, to support the transition towards this requirement, 
the recommendations was that from Sept 2013, 50 per cent of staff in 

Page 10



group settings will need to possess at least a Level 3 qualification, and 
then from September 2015 this should increase to 70 per cent of staff.

 Early Years Degree 
Progression funding for to increase the number of degree level qualified 
practitioners, in line with the findings of the The Effective Provision of Pre-
School Education (EPPE) project and Nutbrown review.  These studies  
promote the progression of those who hold a Level 3 to a degree level 
course. 

Nutbrown states that the evidence also suggests that those with higher 
levels of qualification – degree level specialism in early childhood – have 
the greatest impact. Research has shown that there are large benefits that 
graduate leaders and, in particular, qualified teachers bring to early years 
providers. They have positive impacts both in terms of curriculum and 
pedagogical leadership, and in terms of measurable improvement in 
children’s outcomes in early literacy, social development, mathematics 
and science. There are many examples, too, of teachers working with 
other professionals in the arts to provide children with rich arts-based 
learning experiences, thus fostering children’s creativity and imagination. 

3.1.5 Special Project Funding 
The Early Years Service undertakes several special projects a year to 
concentrate on areas of work to support development in childcare 
provision. The projects concentrate on innovative approaches to improving 
quality.

Projects fit into two broad categories: either providers facing challenges or 
providers becoming beacons,

The budget for each project is normally up to £30-40,000. Sometimes 
there is external funding for this work. The majority of the funding is spent 
through the procurement process. However, to enable providers to 
participate in the projects grants of up to a maximum of £5,000 per project 
may be awarded. The providers are required as a condition of grant to 
share knowledge and experienced gained through the project with other 
providers.

3.2     Application Process

3.2.1 EYS Development Grants 

 The grant is advertised through the following means:
o  in the termly Training Directory which is sent to all providers in 

Tower Hamlets
o at the termly forum for provider managers
o by EYS development officers in one-to-one meetings with 

childcare providers

Page 11



 Generally, the starting point for an application for EYS Development Grant 
Funding is a discussion between the childcare provider and their allocated 
EYS development officer(s) on how the quality of childcare provision could 
be enhanced and looking at action points from the provider’s Ofsted 
inspection report. If there is a significant one-off purchase that could 
enhance the quality of childcare provision and potentially be funded 
through the EYS Development Grant programme, then the childcare 
provider is supported in applying for EYS Development Grant funding. 

 All applications for EYS Development Grant funding are developed by 
childcare providers in conjunction with Early Years Service development 
officers and applications are signed by the appropriate development 
officer to indicate their agreement to the purpose for which funding is 
being sought. 

 EYS Development Grant funding is available to childcare providers from 
the private, voluntary and independent sector only. Childminders are also 
permitted to apply for EYS Development Grant funding subject to the 
programme criteria. However, childminders are not awarded grants for 
anything that could be seen as home improvement.

 Applicants are encouraged to focus applications for funding on significant 
one-off purchases and are expected to make a significant contribution (up 
to 50% of the project costs). The actual percentage contribution to be 
made by the childcare provider is calculated after a review of the childcare 
provider’s financial position based on a review of its most recent audited 
accounts, usually the last 3 years’ audited accounts. 

 Once a funding award has been recommended a Grant Agreement is 
developed and signed by the childcare provider and then sent to the 
Service Head for Learning and Achievement for approval. 

 Childcare providers who have been awarded EYS Development Grant 
Funding must keep receipts and invoices as evidence of project 
expenditure. 

3.2.2 Inclusion Funding

 The grant is advertised through the following means:

 in the termly Training Directory which is sent to all providers in Tower 
Hamlets

 at the termly forum for provider managers
 by EYS Inclusion Officers in one-to-one meetings with childcare 

providers

 When a childcare setting from the private, voluntary or independent sector 
demonstrates they have a child with significant additional needs who 

Page 12



requires funded support, specific equipment or adaptations to be made to 
the setting’s environment, they are able to apply for Inclusion Funding. 
This funding is specifically for early years settings although childminders 
will be considered for equipment or adaptations to the environment such 
as a ramp or handrail to support access for children with identified needs. 
The evidence that can be used to demonstrate a child’s needs includes 
reports from one or more of the following: 

o Speech and Language Therapist 
o Area Inclusion Coordinator 
o Educational Psychologist 
o Child Development Team 
o Physiotherapist 
o Occupational Therapist 
o Health Visitor 
o Common Assessment Framework 
o Social Care Team 
o Hospital Consultant 
o Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service
o Autistic Spectrum Disorder Assessment Service 

 In order to be able to access Inclusion Funding to support the access and 
inclusion of a child with significant additional needs, the following process 
is followed:
 

o Child’s needs identified
o Planning in place to address child’s needs
o Application discussed with parents and agreed
o Appropriate services accessed to support planning for the child’s 

needs
o Request for grant discussed with the LA’s Area Inclusion 

Coordinator 

 An Inclusion Panel meets to assess the evidence and make 
recommendations for the award of funding. The Inclusion Panel 
comprises: Senior Area Inclusion Coordinator plus two Area Inclusion 
Coordinators. 

 Proposed funding awards from the Inclusion Panel are then sent to the 
Early Years Grants Panel for recommendation and then to the Service 
Head Learning and Achievement for approval.

 Childcare providers awarded an Inclusion Grant must keep receipts and 
invoices as evidence of expenditure. 

3.2.3 Childminder Grants

 The information about the availability of the grant is provided at:

Page 13



 the Family Information Service
 at termly advice surgeries held at all children centres.
 at monthly information sessions for those interested in becoming a 

registered childminder. 

 When the Early Years Service is contacted by interested parties they are 
informed of and if wanted booked on the next information sessions.  

 The information is repeated on the 10-week (one day per week) training 
course. This training is compulsory and gives an accredited unit to the 
Level 3 Award in Preparing to Work in Home-Based Childcare, paediatric 
first aid and safeguarding training. This is currently funded by the LA.

 Once registered childminders are contacted and visited by the 
Childminding Co-ordinator, who will discuss the grant and complete the 
relevant forms This allows the coordinator to check the understanding of 
the childminder in commencing work and ensures all requirements are in 
place.

 The resources are sent direct to the childminder.
 Childminders wanting to receive the grant and join the network but not at 

the relevant level to undertake the requirements of the quality assurance 
scheme are awarded the funding and supported to raise their quality 
through regulatory support visits and training.

3.2.4 Training Grants 

Training grants are advertised through the following means:

 the termly learning and development brochure, which is sent to all 
registered providers in Tower Hamlets providing care and education 
places to children birth to five

 promoted at the termly forum for LBTH PVI childcare managers
 EYS Officers in one-to-one meetings with childcare providers

Training grants are awarded using the following process:

 The applicant (PVI childcare employer) will identify staff wanting to 
progress in to higher-level

 The applicant will submit a request for funding detailing the learners’ 
current qualification level, experience, commitment to their employer.  

 The applicant will also be required to detail how the business is 
working towards improving on or maintaining their current Ofsted 
grading, and how the qualification will improve the quality of provision.

 The application will be initially reviewed by the Early Years Workforce 
Development Manager, and may be, rejected if key objective 
requirements are not met, deferred requiring more information, or sent 
to the Early Years Grants Panel for recommendation.

3.2.5 Special Project Funding 
All settings that meet the basic criteria of the specific project are invited to 
participate in the project.

Page 14



If there are more applicants than are required or that funding allows, settings 
are asked to demonstrate the capacity to undertake the project, how their 
setting will benefit from participating and how they will share their learning 
with others.

In practice, the number of settings wishing to participate in each project is 
relatively small, given the time commitment involved is significant.

3.2.6 Early Years Sector Support (ex-MSG)
Approval is also being sought for an extension to the MSG roll-over due to 
delay in decision on services Schools Forum wishes to commission in the 
future. 

This approval would be for a general extension to all current services until a 
decision is made on which services are to be commissioned in the future, and 
for a further extension for specific services which are required until the 
commissioning process is completed It is anticipated that the commissioning 
process will be completed by the end of December 2015.

3.2.7 Approval process for grants
Initially, all applications are processed by the relevant team within the Early 
Years Service. When the application process is complete, the papers are sent 
to the Early Years Funding Panel, which meets at least termly. The role of the 
panel is to provide an objective assessment of the application and to make 
recommendation for funding where it finds that an applicant meets the specific 
grant criteria. The recommendations are then sent to the Service Head 
Learning and Achievement for approval.

For the Early Years Sector Support (ex-MSG), the funded projects were 
approved as part of the 2012-15 Mainstream Grant programme, this proposal 
represents a continuation of the previously approved projects.  

3.3    Grant criteria 

3.3.1 EYS Development Grants

Applications for EYS Development Grant funding are considered against the 
following criteria:

 
 The childcare provider’s most recent Ofsted grading and any issues 

raised and/ or recommendations to improve the quality of childcare 
provision made by the inspection visit/ report. 

 The childcare provider’s priority level and issues raised/ 
recommendations made to improve the quality of childcare provision 
through the Settings Review process. The Early Years Service Settings 

Page 15



Review process reviews the quality and support needed of childcare 
provision across all settings within the borough; depending on the level 
of development support judged to be required, each setting is rated as 
being high, medium or low priority. 

 Findings, actions and recommendations to improve the quality of 
childcare provision identified in the childcare provider’s ECERS/ ITERS 
audits. 

 The purpose for which funding is being sought and how this would help 
the provider in addressing issues, actions or recommendations 
identified by OFSTED, Settings Review, ECERS/ ITERS or through the 
ongoing work with EYS development officer(s).

 The childcare provider’s financial position based on analysis of its most 
recent audited accounts. The childcare provider’s financial position is 
reviewed in terms of: ongoing surplus/ deficit of income against 
expenditure; reserve funds held, most specifically unrestricted funding 
to contribute to the proposed development and forward income and 
expenditure projections demonstrating the financial sustainability of the 
childcare provision. 

 Details of the projected expenditure and how this will be funded; 
whether the provider is proposing to make a contribution from their own 
resources. Childcare providers are expected to contribute 50% of the 
total project costs unless they can demonstrate that they do not have 
sufficient financial resources available. For new childcare provision 
consideration is given to the total investment made towards start-up 
costs by the childcare provider.  

 The financial viability/ sustainability of the childcare provider- based on 
3-year income and expenditure projections. 

 The nature of the proposed expenditure with applications for funding 
expected to focus on significant, one-off purchases or developments 
that will have a clear impact on improving the quality of childcare 
provision

 Awards are generally made only for significant one-off purchases that 
will lead to a significant improvement in the quality of the childcare 
provision and will make a real difference to children care and learning; 
such as: purchase of large pieces of play equipment, development of 
the setting’s outdoor play facilities, improvements to the settings 
physical environment, the development of Forest School facilities, etc. 
Applications for funding focusing on smaller scale purchases (e.g. 
smaller items of play equipment, storage facilities, consumable 
resources etc.) would only be considered for new start-up childcare 
providers who have not yet established sufficient financial reserves to 
fund these items themselves. 

   

Page 16



3.3.2     Inclusion Funding

 In order for Inclusion funding to be awarded, the childcare setting must 
demonstrate that they have a child with significant additional needs 
who requires funded support, specific equipment or adaptations to be 
made to the setting’s environment. The individual child’s needs could 
be:

 Communication and interaction needs
 Sensory (hearing, vision) needs
 Physical needs
 Medical needs
 Social, emotional and mental health needs 

 There must be supporting evidence from a relevant professional 
involved in the case (see section 3.2.2 above).

Inclusion Funding is awarded to support the access and inclusion of 
children with significant additional needs; for example funding an 
additional suitably qualified early years practitioner so that the wider 
permanent staff group is better able to meet the needs of the individual 
child; the purchase of specific equipment to support the child’s access to 
play and learning opportunities; or to enable small adaptations to the 
physical environment within the setting to enable access for the child.

3.3.3 Childminder Grants 
This funding is to encourage and support local people in setting up as a 
registered Childminder. To be eligible:

 The grant must be applied for within 6 months of becoming registered 
with Ofsted.

 The childminder has a choice of taking up the start-up pack through a 
specialist organisation offering business support and insurance for 
childminders.

3.3.4 Training Grants

Applications are considered against the following criteria:

 Applicants must be employed in a childcare capacity in the PVI 
childcare sector and with a provider based in the London Borough of 
Tower Hamlets. 

 The provider must be registered with Ofsted and must have an Ofsted 
rating of requires improvement/satisfactory or better.

 Settings must be providing care/education to a minimum of 50% of 
their registered childcare places, settings in the first year of operation 
are exempt from this to support future development.  

Page 17



 Funding will only be considered as a progression to achieve a higher 
qualification level and the training must be relevant to the field of early 
years childcare. 

 Grants will not be awarded by the Early Years Service if the individual 
or organisation has received any other external funding for the training 

 Grants for GCSEs and Level 3 qualification is only for the cost of the 
training itself, and does not include cover costs, books or any other 
associated costs incurred.

 Early Years Degree grants are funded based on the university tuition 
fees up to a maximum of £9,000 per annum, to a total of £27,000 for 
the complete course.  Funding will be paid over a maximum of five 
years. Up to an additional £1,500 per annum (up to a maximum of 
£4,500 over the complete period of study) may be claimed for actual 
costs incurred for travelling to and from lectures, staff cover and 
resources to support the learner. 

 Funding will only be released on receipt of a copy of an invoice relating 
to the agreed course and in the same financial year as the course start 
date; failure to this may result in the grant not being paid. For the 
additional costs payment will only be made on production of receipts or 
invoices. 

 Maximum number of funded places per provider is dependent on the 
number of employed childcare staff and those currently receiving 
funding. 

Size of ratio 
workforce 
employed

Early Year Graduate 
funding 

Number of funded people 
at any one time

Level 3 and GCSE funding 

Number of funded people 
at any one time

1 - 5 1 2
6 – 10 1 3
11 - 20 2 4
21 + 3 6

3.3.5 Special Project Funding 

 Providers must be able to deliver childcare relating to the objective of 
the project e.g. supporting two year olds, developing outdoor areas.

 The provider must be from the appropriate sector for the project i.e. 
school or PVI.

 For projects for settings facing challenges, the setting must be rated 
requires improvement/satisfactory or above.

 For beacon projects, providers must be rated good or outstanding by 
Ofsted.

Page 18



3.3.6 Early Years Sector Support (ex-MSG)

The principle criteria are for areas of work that meet council objectives as set 
out in the Community Plan 2012-2015, the Strategic Plan 2015/16 and the 
Children & Families Plan 2012-15.

Strategic Plan 2015/16 – A Prosperous Community

 Improve educational aspiration and attainment
o Expand free early years education places of high quality for 

disadvantaged two year-olds
o Raise attainment of all children at the end of the Early Years 

Foundation Stage and narrow the gap between all children and those 
that receive Pupil Premium

Community Plan – A Fair and Prosperous Community 

 Enable children and young people to achieve their full potential
o Deliver ambitious targets for expansion of childcare provision

 Build strong community leadership and social capital through a thriving 
voluntary and community sector (VCS) 

o VCS shape strategy and services and coproduce local services
o VCS resilience and financial sustainability
o Monitor, evaluate and demonstrate impact

Community Plan – A healthy and supportive community

 Ensure a healthy start for every child
o Ensure that all children are physically, emotionally, behaviourally 

and cognitively ready for school 

Children & Families Plan 2012-15

 Maternity and Early Years Children are Healthy 
o All parents and children achieve positive physical and emotional 

development milestones

The types of project which have previously been funded through MSG 
included: payroll services and management committee support for voluntary 
childcare providers; toy library services; and childcare support for children 
with complex additional needs.

3.4     Eligibility
Early Years Service grant funding is only awarded to eligible childcare 
providers; a childcare provider is considered to be eligible if:

 The childcare provision is registered with Ofsted; 
 they meet the Ofsted rating of requires improvement/satisfactory or 

better, or, where specified in the grant criteria, of good or better

Page 19



 the childcare provider can show how they will meet the Early Years 
Foundation Stage

 the childcare provision is located within the London Borough of Tower 
Hamlets. 

 The provider is administering any other funding received through LBTH 
in accordance within the terms and conditions of that funding.

3.5 Award amount and payment
For all grants, providers must be able to provide evidence of expenditure 
which meets the conditions of the award.

3.5.1  EYS Development Grants

 The EYS Development Grant budget is £43,693 per year with 
individual awards limited to a maximum of £5,000; there is also the 
expectation that the childcare provider makes a significant financial 
contribution themselves (up to 50% of the total project costs). 
Examples of recent EYS Development Grant awards include: £2,000 
towards the development of a childcare provider’s outdoor play area; 
£3,000 towards the purchase and installation of outdoor storage 
facilities and a climbing frame; £1,000 towards the purchase of a new 
changing unit; £1,500 towards the replacement of a heating system.  
 

 The EYS Development Grant is awarded on a first come, first served 
basis from the beginning of each financial year; usually there is 
sufficient funding available to fund all applications recommended for 
funding. If funding were to run out over the course of the year 
applicants would be encouraged either to seek alternative sources of 
funding or consider reapplying the following year. 

 Any award amount is based on consideration of: 

 the potential positive impact of the funding on improving the quality 
of childcare provision; established through the identification of 
development actions by EYS development officer(s) and the 
childcare provider. 

 the financial contribution being made by the childcare provider 
themselves; childcare providers are expected to contribute 50% of 
the total project costs unless they can demonstrate that they do not 
have sufficient financial resources available. For new childcare 
provision consideration is given to the total investment towards 
start-up costs by the childcare provider.  

 value for money in terms of the costs of specific items of equipment 
and/ or resources to be funded; value for money is assessed based 
on the experience of EYS development officers who have a broad 
knowledge of early years equipment and the relative quality and 
cost. 

Page 20



 Applications for funding are benchmarked against each other based on 
the experience and professional judgement of EYS development 
officers in order to ensure fairness of awards. 

 A grant agreement is drawn up for each funding award detailing the 
agreed purchases to be made and the financial contribution to be made 
by the childcare provider. 

3.5.2  Inclusion Funding

 The Inclusion Funding budget is £43,500 per year with typical awards 
ranging from £500 up to £4,000, depending on the nature of support 
needed. A typical award would be employment of NVQ Level 3 
qualified early years practitioner for a period of 12 weeks for 15 hours a 
week at a rate of £12.18 per hour at a total cost of £2,192.40.
 

 Any award amount is based on consideration of: 

 the needs of the individual child in terms of supporting access and 
inclusion of children with significant additional needs  

 the setting demonstrating they have a child with significant 
additional needs who requires funded support, specific equipment 
or adaptations to be made to the setting’s environment

 Applications for funding are benchmarked against each other based 
previous awards and on the experience and professional judgement of 
the Inclusion Panel in order to ensure fairness of awards.  

3.5.3 Childminder Grants
The grant is paid directly to the specialist childminder organisation in the 
name of the childminder. This grant is a fixed amount of £150. 

3.5.4 Training Grants 
Funding will differ depending on the qualification level and type.  Grants will 
be awarded on a match funding basis.

 GCSE Maths and English – up to a maximum of £300 per learner.
 Level 3 – up to a maximum of £3,000 per learner.
 Early Years Degree grants are funded based on the university tuition 

fees up to a maximum of £9,000 per annum for three years. Up to an 
additional £1,500 per annum may be claimed for actual costs incurred for 
travelling to and from lectures, staff cover and resources to support the 
learner. 

3.5.5 Special Project Funding 
 No more than £5,000 per project and not more than a total of £10,000 

per year may be awarded to a single provider.

Page 21



 Funding is only awarded for actual costs incurred up to the above limits 
which enable the provider to participate in the project.

3.5.6 Early Years Sector Support (ex-MSG)
The annual budget for the extension of MSG projects is £185,712 which was 
agreed by Schools Forum as part of the DSG budget for 2015/16.

4. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

4.1. The grants contained in this report are funded from the Early Years element of 
the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). The DSG budget is approved by the 
Tower Hamlets Schools Forum on a yearly basis. The 2015/16 budget was 
approved by Schools Forum in January 2015, each of the grants mentioned in 
this report are budgeted for within the Early Years element of the DSG in 
2015/16.

5. LEGAL COMMENTS 

5.1. The power of the commissioners to make decisions in relation to grants arises 
from directions made by the Secretary of State on 17 December 2014 
pursuant to powers under sections 15(5) and 15(6) of the Local Government 
Act 1999 (the Directions).  Paragraph 4(ii) and Annex B of the Directions 
together provide that, until 31 March 2017, the Council’s functions in relation 
to grants will be exercised by appointed Commissioners, acting jointly or 
severally.  This is subject to an exception in relation to grants made under 
section 24 of the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996, 
for the purposes of section 23 of that Act (disabled facilities grant).

5.2. To the extent that the Commissioners are exercising powers which would 
otherwise have been the Council’s, there is a need to ensure the Council has 
power to make the grants in question.  The Commissioners will wish to be 
satisfied that this is the case.  It appears from the information provided in the 
report that the grants are capable of being supported under the Council’s 
powers and, in this regard, the powers set out below appear particularly 
relevant.

5.3. The grant schemes outlined in the report are concerned with: maximising the 
quality of childcare provision; supporting access for children with special 
educational needs to childcare; start-up support for child minders; and training 
those involved in childcare.  The scheme may be supportable by reference to 
the Council’s obligations under the Childcare Act 2006, which relevantly 
include the following –

 to improve the well-being of young children in Tower Hamlets and to 
reduce inequalities between young children in specified respects 
(which include education, training and recreation) (section 1(1));

Page 22



 to make arrangements to secure that early childhood services in 
Tower Hamlets (which include early years provision) are provided in 
an integrated manner which is calculated to facilitate access to 
services and maximize the benefit of those services to parents, 
prospective parents and young children (section 3(2)).  Early childhood 
services include early years’ provision, which is childcare for the 
under-fives.

 to secure, as far as reasonably practicable, that there is sufficient 
childcare provided in Tower Hamlets to meet the relevant needs of 
parents.  This is for parents who require childcare in order to enable 
them to take up work or to undertake education or training which could 
assist them to obtain work.  Childcare means any form of care for a 
child and includes education and other supervised activity.

5.4. In determining the sufficiency of childcare in Tower Hamlets, the Council may 
have regard to childcare available outside of Tower Hamlets and is required to 
have regard to: the provision of childcare in respect of which the childcare 
element of working tax credit is payable or for which childcare costs may be 
included in the calculation of universal credit; and the provision of childcare 
suitable for disable children.

5.5. The Childcare Act makes clear that although the Council’s obligation is to 
secure the provision of sufficient childcare in Tower Hamlets, this need not be 
actually provided by the Council.  Pursuant to section 8 of the Childcare Act, 
the Council may assist any person who provides or proposes to provide 
childcare and may make arrangements with any person to provide childcare.  
The assistance which the Council may provide to a childcare provider and the 
arrangements which the Council may make for the provision of childcare 
include the giving of financial assistance.

5.6. The Council is further required under the Childcare Act 2006 to secure that 
prescribed early years provision is available free of charge for specified 
categories of children under school age.  Early years provision means the 
provision of childcare for a child under the age of five.  The Local Authority 
(Duty to Secure Early Years Provision Free of Charge) Regulations 2014 (“the 
Free Provision Regulations”) provide that children entitled to free early years 
provision from the Council are two year olds who are eligible children and 3 
year olds.  A child is eligible if he or she falls within one of seven prescribed 
categories, which include children entitled to free school meals, looked after 
children and children with special educational needs.

5.7. In discharging its duties to provide childcare and free early years provision, 
the Council must have regard to guidance given by the Secretary of State, 
reference to which is made in the body of the report.

5.8. By virtue of section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has 
power to do anything which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or 
incidental to, the discharge of any of its functions.  This may involve 
expenditure, borrowing or lending of money or the acquisition or disposal of 
any property or rights.  There is likely sufficient power to support the proposed 

Page 23



grant schemes by virtue of the Council’s functions under the Childcare Act.  
However, if there were any doubt as to the Council’s power to make a grant in 
pursuance of those functions, section 111 would supply that power.

5.9. Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 gives the Council a general power of 
competence to do anything that individuals generally may do, subject to 
specified restrictions and limitations imposed by other statutes.  As individuals 
may provide financial support to improve childcare, the Council may also do 
so, provided there is a good reason to do so and provided there is no 
statutory prohibition on doing so (which generally there is not).  There may be 
a good reason for giving a grant if it is likely to further the Council’s 
sustainable community strategy under section 4 of the Local Government Act 
2000, set out in the Community Plan, or one of the Council’s related 
strategies.  Information is set out in the report as to the connection between 
the proposed theme specifications and the Council’s relevant strategies.

5.10. The Council has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make 
arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its 
functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness.  This is referred to as the Council's best value 
duty and the following matters are relevant to discharge of the duty –

 It is proposed that the schemes will be advertised in ways specified in 
the report, with the exception of the special project funding for which 
all eligible providers will be invited to participate.  To this extent the 
grants will be exposed to a degree of competition.

 The Council should, additionally, be able to demonstrate a direct 
benefit accrued from the money spent under each grant.  In this 
regard applications are to be evaluated against the criteria specified in 
the report.  This would leave a substantial area of discretion for the 
corporate director to determine whether a grant should be awarded 
and in what amount.  This provides flexibility, which can be conducive 
to delivering value for money, but may have a reduced level of 
transparency which has the potential to impact the integrity of the 
decision-making process.

 There should be a grant agreement for each grant and provision 
made to ensure delivery of the projects in line with the application and 
approval and in the event of non-delivery to protect the Council’s 
position.  Robust monitoring requirements need to be in place and 
appropriate performance related payment mechanisms introduced 
into the terms of any grant award.

5.11. The Council must ensure that any grants are given out on a non-profit basis.  
Where a grant includes a profit element it no longer remains a grant and 
would be considered to be procurement activity.  In such circumstances this 
means that the Council would have failed in its duties to properly procure the 
subject matter of the grant in accordance with the Council’s constitution and 
the prevailing law.

Page 24



5.12. It is clear that there is a potential that some of the organisations (for example 
child minder businesses) may use the grant in order to provide growth to their 
business and to some extent this appears to be the purpose of the grant.  This 
could, therefore, potentially class such grants as “State Aid” which is 
prohibited under European Law.  However, it is unlikely that there will be 
cross border interest which is required for the grant to contravene the state 
aid rules.  This is because it is unlikely that such a grant would allow a child 
minder business to bid in another EU member state (or gain some other 
advantage in the market place) or that a child minder business situated in 
another member state would be interested in receiving a similar grant.  Also 
as regards state aid, a de minimis rule applies so provided that no individual 
applicant receives more than 200,000 Euros worth of grant within a 3 year 
period then the state aid rules will not apply to such grant 

5.13. In carrying out its functions, the Council must have due regard to the need to 
eliminate unlawful conduct under the Equality Act 2010, the need to advance 
equality of opportunity and the need to foster good relations between persons 
who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t (the public sector 
equality duty).  A proportionate level of equality analysis is required to 
discharge the duty.

6. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS

6.1 The allocation of Early Years Service grant funding across these streams is 
part of the LA’s strategy to improve achievement by improving outcomes for 
young children.  

6.2 The continued allocation of grant funding is necessary to ensure the Council 
meets its statutory obligations in terms of: 

 Ensuring all children are able to take up their entitlement to funded 
early education in a high quality childcare setting. 

 Supporting access and inclusion of children with significant additional 
needs (Special Educational Needs)  

 Securing sufficient childcare to ensure that parents are able to work 
because childcare places are available, accessible and affordable and 
are delivered flexibly in a range of high quality providers.

 Providing information, advice, guidance and training for childcare 
providers to improve the quality of their provision and to promote high 
quality early education. 

7. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT

7.1 There are no specific actions for a greener environment as a result of these 
funding processes. 

Page 25



8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

8.1. All individual projects funded through Early Years Service funding are closely 
monitored to ensure that expenditure is in line with that agreed in the Grant 
Agreement and that the childcare provider delivers the project deliverables as 
defined in the Grant Agreement. 

8.2. The EYS Development Grant programme usually requires a financial 
contribution form the childcare provider of up to 50% of the total project costs. 

9. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Early Intervention breaks the cycle in which people who grow up with 
dysfunctional behaviours and lifestyles may transmit to their children, who, in 
turn, transmit them to their grandchildren and so on. Early Intervention offers a 
real chance to break this destructive pattern and helps raising children to 
become good parents and carers in turn

 
 
10. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT 

10.1 There are no specific efficiency contributions as a result of these funding 
processes.  

11. SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS

11.1 Applicants have to make a declaration that they have not been disqualified 
from working with children.

11.2 The Local Authority reserves the right to undertake DBS at any time during 
contract period.

11.3 If Ofsted refuse registration on the grounds of unsuitable persons or 
disqualified persons the funding will be have to be repaid in full.

11.4  Each provision is allocated a Childcare Development Adviser to continue to 
help develop their provision, meet the necessary requirements and good 
practice. 

11.5    All providers must have a safeguarding policy and procedure, this is checked 
for suitability and to ensure it complies with the Tower Hamlets Local 
Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) procedures by the Early Years 
Childcare Development Adviser. 

11.6   All early years providers must have a designated person for safeguarding, first 
aid and inclusion. 

Page 26



11.7  The designated safeguarding person for each provision must attend Tower 
Hamlets safeguarding training.  

____________________________________

Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents

Linked Report
 None

Appendices
 None

Background Documents
 None

Officer contact details for documents:
 Jo Green x4844
 Monica Forty x 3114

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Commissioner Decision Report
July 2015

Report of: Aman Dalvi 
Corporate Director,  Development and Renewal

Classification:
Unrestricted 

St. Paul’s Church Pocket park, Shadwell

Originating Officer(s) Manmohan Dayal
Wards affected Shadwell
Key Decision? Yes 
Community Plan Theme A Great Place to Live: A Prosperous Community

Executive Summary:

This report relates to the release of match fund of £8,646 to St. Paul’s Church for the 
delivery of a publicly accessible pocket park within the premises of the church. The 
total value of the project that won the funding was £20,000, out of which GLA 
provided funding of £9,000. The balance of £2,354 was made up by the Church’s 
own resources.

St Paul’s Shadwell (“SPS”) gardens have now become one of very few gardens and 
Open spaces in Shadwell, that have enhanced the Green Grid and contributed 
towards publicly accessible open space within the borough. The aim of the project 
was to improve the church gardens in order to create a more inviting publicly 
accessible open space for local people to enjoy. The space is now fully accessible 
between dawn and dusk and open to
all. 

The space has been delivered in partnership with GLA, the Council and the Church. 
The improvements include improved landscaping, children’s play facilities, seated 
areas and stations to encourage people to carry out exercise. Signage reminding 
people of the history of the church and its connection to the local docks has also 
been included.

The Planning Contributions Overview Panel (PCOP), following legal review and 
development of a Project Initiation Document (PID), approved the project in July 
2014. Earlier the GLA had agreed to provide funding on condition that the recipient 
would provide 100% match funding. The Council agreed to support the project as it 
aligned with the objectives of the Council’s Local  Plan related Green Grid Strategy 
to create more publicly accessible open  space within the borough.

Page 29

Agenda Item 5.2



Recommendations:

The Commissioners are recommended to: 

1. Note the delivery of the pocket park at St. Paul’s Church, Shadwell. 
2. Note the monies secured by alternative funding (GLA Pocket Park Initiative)
3. Agree a grant of £8,646 to St. Paul’s Church from section 106 monies to fund 

a publicly accessible pocket park within the Church premises. 

1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS

1.1 The approval of this report which includes match funding for the pocket park 
provides the following benefits:

 The project has contributed towards publicly accessible open space. 

 It has ensured that St. Paul’s Church were able to access the grant of 
£9,000 from GLA’s Pocket park Initiative;

 St Paul’s Shadwell (“SPS”) gardens are one of very few gardens and 
open spaces in Shadwell that have enhanced the Council’s Green Grid 
Strategy;

 This area is located along a popular riverside that connects Tower 
Bridge to Canary Wharf - a running route where hundreds of runners, 
bikers and walkers go past each day. The project has not only 
enhanced the east-west connectivity, but also created the vital north-
south lik to the Shadwell basin and the river so that the communities 
north of the Highway will have better access to the river; 

 The project was aimed at the improvement of the church gardens in 
order to create a more inviting publicly accessible open space for local 
people to enjoy. The space is fully accessible between dawn and dusk 
and open to all and includes signage to encourage understanding of 
the historical significance of the church building;

 The improvements include improved landscaping, children’s play 
facilities, seated areas and exercise stations to encourage people to be 
healthy and active;

 The improvements to St Paul’s Church Yard offer respite to the local 
community and has become a more inviting space for those who use 
the site as a thoroughfare between Shadwell and Wapping and those 
who access to Shadwell Basin for the recreation activities on offer 
there;

 It ensures that the finances are spent in accordance with the S106 
obligation and deliver the projects as agreed with the s106 contributors

Page 30



1.2 The project’s aim to provide public open space was identified and agreed with 
the s106 contributors, prior to release of the funds to Tower Hamlets in 
accordance with the S106 agreement (PA/12/01977). 

1.3 The project was approved by PCOP and Owen Whalley, Head of Planning & 
Building Control at the PCOP meeting in July 2014.

2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

2.1 The finances have been secured through the s106 process with the 
deliverable projects identified and agreed with the s106 contributors prior to 
release of the finances to the Council. No alternative projects have been 
considered for the £8,646.

3. DETAILS OF REPORT

3.1 The project will deliver publicly accessible open space in an area where the 
availability of green open space around the site is severely limited. It was 
approved for funding by the GLA and Mayor of London’s Pocket Park 
Initiative, launched in November 2012, which promotes improvements to the 
city’s outdoor spaces. The total value of the project that won the funding was 
£20,000, out of which GLA provided funding of £9,000. The balance of match 
funding was sought by the Church from the Council and from its own 
resources. The Council was able to provide match funding of £8,646 from its 
S 106 funds and the balance of £2,354 was made up by the Church’s own 
resources;

3.2 The project contributes towards publicly accessible open space. The 
Borough’s Annual Monitoring Report (AMR 2012/13) has indicated that the 
Borough is currently providing just 1.0ha of public open space per 1000 
population. With a growing population and limited potential for new open 
space there is a risk that the deficiency will get worse. St Paul’s Shadwell 
(“SPS”) gardens are one of very few gardens and open spaces in Shadwell 
that, when implemented, will enhance the Green Grid and contribute towards 
publicly accessible open space within the borough (Appendix 2);

3.3 The site also constitutes a thoroughfare for foot traffic between Shadwell and 
Wapping and offers access to Shadwell Basin for the recreational activities on 
offer there.  This area is located along a popular riverside that connects Tower 
Bridge to Canary Wharf - a running route where hundreds of runners, bikers 
and walkers go past each day. The project will thus not only enhance the 
east-west connectivity, but also create the vital north-south link to the 
Shadwell basin and the river so that the communities north of the Highway will 
have better access to the river; 

3.4 The Church is a listed building and also within the St. Paul’s Church 
Conservation Area. The Tower Hamlets Appraisal of the St Paul’s Shadwell 
Conservation Area stated that "The church yard is the most important open 
space in the Conservation Area." Council has a duty to consider the 
enhancement of conservation areas under the 1990 Planning Act.

Page 31



 
3.5 The project was aimed at the improvement of the church gardens in order to 

create a more inviting publicly accessible open space for local people to 
enjoy. The space is now fully accessible between dawn and dusk and open to 
all and includes signage to encourage understanding of the historical 
significance of the church building. The improvements included improved 
landscaping, children’s play facilities, seating areas where individuals and 
families can enjoy and stations to encourage people to stretch and carry out 
exercise. Signage reminding people of the history of the church and its 
connection to the local docks is also included;

3.06 The S106monies are part of the Tower Hamlets Council S106 Delivery 
Portfolio and is aligned with the agreed Heads of Terms (HoT) for the Deed 
creating Planning Obligations and undertakings for the development at 
Challenger House, 42 Adler Street, Whitechapel (PA/12/01977).

3.7 The agreement obliged the developer to pay the Council £8,646 for the 
purpose “towards public open space in the borough” of enabling the Council to 
create public open space in the borough.

3.8 The amount of £8,646  is match funding to the Church who have successfully 
secured £9,000 from the GLA Pocket park Initiative Fund. 

3.9 The balance of £2,354 has also been secured and spent by the Church for the 
delivery of the pocket park.

3.10 The urgency for undertaking a decision on this because the project has been 
completed and the Council needs to fulfil its part of the commitment made to 
GLA and the Church. 

4. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

 4.1 This report seeks the approval of the Commissioners to make a contribution of 
£8,646 from specific Section 106 funding towards the St. Paul’s Church 
Pocket Park in Shadwell.

4.2 On condition that it could attract match funding towards the project, the 
Church secured funding of £9,000 from the GLA’s Pocket Parks Programme 
towards the estimated £20,000 redevelopment cost of St Paul’s Shadwell 
Gardens. It is proposed that the £8,646 that the Council received in respect of 
the planning obligations and undertakings for the development at Challenger 
House in Whitechapel (PA/12/01977) be utilised as funding for this scheme. 
The Church has separately secured the balance of funding (£2,354) that is 
required for the project.

 
4.3 Under the terms of the specific Section 106 agreement, the Council has to 

utilise the funding towards a public open space initiative within the borough. 
The proposals in this report satisfy the requirements of the planning 
agreement, however as alternative projects could potentially be undertaken, 
the proposed payment should be treated as a grant which requires 

Page 32



Commissioner approval under the terms of the Ministerial Direction of 17th 
December 2014.

5. LEGAL COMMENTS 

5.1 The power of the commissioners to make decisions in relation to grants arises 
from directions made by the Secretary of State on 17 December 2014 
pursuant to powers under sections 15(5) and 15(6) of the Local Government 
Act 1999 (the Directions).  Paragraph 4(ii) and Annex B of the Directions 
together provide that, until 31 March 2017, the Council’s functions in relation 
to grants will be exercised by appointed Commissioners, acting jointly or 
severally.  This is subject to an exception in relation to grants made under 
section 24 of the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996, 
for the purposes of section 23 of that Act (disabled facilities grant).

5.2 To the extent that the Commissioners are exercising powers which would 
otherwise have been the Council’s, there is a need to ensure the Council 
would have had power to make the grants in question but for the directions.

5.3 The Council has the power in accordance with Section 164 of the Public 
Health Act 1875 to “purchase or take on lease lay out plant improve and 
maintain lands for the purpose of being used as public walks or pleasure 
grounds, and may support or contribute to the support of public walks or 
pleasure grounds provided by any person whomsoever”.  The proposed grant 
of money for the pocket park falls within the description of support or a 
contribution and, accordingly, it appears the Council has power to make the 
grant.

5.4 Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 gives the Council a general power of 
competence to do anything that individuals generally may do, subject to 
specified restrictions and limitations imposed by other statutes (the general 
power of competence).  As there does not appear to be a relevant restriction 
on the making of the proposed grant, the general power of competence 
provides an independent source of power for making the grant.

5.5 In this instance the money for the proposed grant has been provided from a 
third party pursuant to an agreement entered into under section 106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  The Council is restricted in how 
section 106 monies may be applied to the purposes expressed in the 
agreement itself.  The report confirms that the proposed payment would be for 
a permissible purpose.

5.6 A payment of section 106 monies may be a grant or it may be procurement, 
but in this case appears to have the character of a grant.  When implementing 
the schemes, the Council must ensure that no part of the funds issued 
represents a profit element to the recipient.  The inclusion of profit or the 
opportunity of making a profit from the grant or third parties indicates that the 
grant is really procurement activity and would otherwise be subject to the 
Council’s Procurement Procedures and other appropriate domestic and 
European law.  This would mean therefore, that the Council would have failed 

Page 33



to abide by the appropriate internal procedures and external law applicable to 
such purchases.

5.7 The Council has a duty under section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999 to 
make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its 
functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness.  This is referred to as the Council's best value 
duty.  In order to help secure value for money there should be a grant 
agreement in place and provisions included within the grant agreement to 
ensure delivery of the scheme in line with the application and approval and in 
the event of non-delivery to protect the Council’s position.  Robust monitoring 
requirements need to be in place and appropriate performance related 
payment mechanisms introduced into the terms of any grant award to ensure 
the anticipated scheme is delivered.

5.8 When making grants decisions, the Council must have due regard to the need 
to eliminate unlawful conduct under the Equality Act 2010, the need to 
advance equality of opportunity and the need to foster good relations between 
persons who share a protected characteristic and those who do not (the 
public sector equality duty).  A proportionate level of equality analysis is 
required to discharge the duty and information relevant to this is contained in 
the One Tower Hamlets section of the report.

5.9 With regard to equalities it is appreciated that it is stated within the report that 
the park would be available to the whole community to use.  The Council 
should ensure that this is the case and that the look and feel of the final park 
must not particularly disfavour any group who has a protected characteristic 
and include such things as appropriate access and usage arrangements and 
or be of no particular religious significance.

5.10 The proposed grant is under the de minimis threshold for the purposes of 
European restrictions on State aid.

6. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS

6.1. The proposed pocket park meets an identified shortage of public open  space 
in Shadwell. The project has enabled the Church to provide an improved 
service to the local community, including the children, the elderly and disabled 
who visit the park. The new open space promotes community cohesion. 

6.2. The proposals has benefitted the whole community with a new space to:
 contribute towards publicly accessible open space within the borough
 enhance the east-west connectivity, and also created the vital north-

south link to the Shadwell basin and the river so that the communities 
north of the Highway will have better access to the river; 

 create a more inviting publicly accessible open space for local people 
to enjoy. 

 not adversely affect people with Protected Characteristics and has 
delivered a facility for the entire community to enjoy and benefit. 

Page 34



7. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT

7.1 The proposals include the delivery of an pocket park on site along with 
seating and play equipment. The park is primarily used for children and 
mothers and by the adult volunteers for skill share sessions 

7.2 The equipmentdesign uses recycled materials, with low ongoing energy 
requirements: 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

8.1. There is a risk that if the grant is not approved the benefits identified in section 
1.0 and6.2 will not be realised to the detriment of the local community, visitors 
and volunteers.

8.2. The match funding was secured through the s106 process and without 
approval of the project the s106 obligations would not be met.

8.3. The risk of not fulfilling its commitment will be detrimental to the Council’s 
reputation

9. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There are no crime or disorder implications.
 

10. BEST VALUE 

10.1 The delivery of this project ensures the Council meets its s106 obligations.

10.2 The match funding ensures the funding from GLA Pocket park Initiative is 
secured and the project is fully funded through the GLA Pocket park Initiative 
and s106 Contribution. 

10.3 The creation of a park to benefit the whole community funded through a grant 
and s.106 contribution is considered to offer excellent value for money.

11. SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS

11.1 The St. Paul’s Church, Shadwell is an established community asset and a 
registered charitable organisation.

11.2 There are no safeguarding implications.

____________________________________

Page 35



Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents

Linked Report
 NONE

Appendices
 NONE

Background Documents – Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)(Access 
to Information)(England) Regulations 2012

 NONE

Officer contact details for documents:
 Manmohan Dayal, 

Tel: 020 7364 4663; 
email: Manmohan.dayal@towerhamlets.gov.uk

Page 36


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	3 DECISIONS OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
	5.1 Approvals process for Early Years Service Grant Funding
	5.2 St. Paul's Church Pocket Park, Shadwell

